# FIELD AND CLINICAL EXPERIENCES HANDBOOK



2021-2022

Brenau University College of Education

## Table of Contents

Field	and Clinical Experiences	1
*	Overview	1
Obse	rvation Guide	3
*	What is an Observation?	3
Field	Experience Guide4Error! Bookmark not defin	ed.
*	What is a Field Experience?	4
*	Placement Embedded Courses	4
*	Requesting a Field Experience Placement	5
*	Registering for a Field Experience	7
*	Preparing for a Field Experience	8
*	Completing a Field Experience	.10
*	Field Experience Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation	.13
*	Field Experience Team	.14
Resid	ency	.16
Stude	ent Teaching Guide	.18
*	What is Student Teaching?	.18
*	Applying for Student Teaching	.19
*	Registering for Student Teaching	.21
*	Preparing for your Student Teaching	.21
*	Completing your Student Teaching	.22
*	Student Teaching Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation	.25
*	Student Teaching Team	.26
Interr	nship Guide	.28
*	What is an Internship?	.28
*	Applying for an Internship	.29
*	Registering for an Internship	.29
*	Preparing for an Internship	.30
*	Completing an Internship	.30
*	Internship Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation	.31
*	Internship Support Team	.33

Conceptual Framework	37
Field and Clinical Experiences Alignment	38

## Brenau University College of Education Field and Clinical Experiences

Note: In this handbook, the term teacher candidate or candidate is used to denote the Brenau University education student.

## \* Overview

Brenau University College of Education places education majors in school settings for the purpose of having them observe good teaching in a classroom setting, of giving them an opportunity to demonstrate their knowledge and skills regarding teaching and learning, and of further preparing themselves to become a teacher in their own classroom. The Georgia Professional Standards Commission (GA PSC) and the National Council for the Accreditation of Teacher Education (NCATE) have encouraged teacher preparation programs to move from a model based on academic preparation and coursework to one with more of a clinical focus. At Brenau, methods courses include an embedded field experience. There is also an emphasis on the importance of creating and developing partnerships between teacher preparation programs and the schools and school districts that provide placements for the education majors.

Candidates work in regionally accredited partner schools with a mentor teacher and a university supervisor as their chief support during the field and clinical placements. These experiences build in duration from 48 hour field experience placements to a full semester of full-time student teaching. The field and clinical experiences increase in complexity and participation from observing the classroom teacher to participation in instruction and assessment in field experiences, and finally to a period of full responsibility during student teaching.

Placements in partner schools are assigned with the GA PSC's diversity requirements in mind. Candidates must complete placements that meet each of the following criteria.

- Urban, suburban, and rural locations (at least two of these three settings)
- Low socio-economic status students (usually determined by the number of students who qualify for free or reduced lunch)
- English Language Learners
- Students with Disabilities
- Ethnic Diversity
- Grade bands matching the candidates' major

Education majors that include field and clinical experiences are

- Early Childhood Education, undergraduate and MAT
- Middle Grades Education, undergraduate and MAT
- Special Education, undergraduate and MAT
- Secondary Education, MAT
- Music Education, undergraduate

Brenau places candidates in five types of placements.

- Observation
- Field Experience
- Residency
- Student Teaching
- Internship

Teacher candidates learn details about these placements when they take ED100/501 Clinical Experiences Seminar. Candidates may participate in observations during and following ED100/501. They must be admitted to Teacher Education in order to participate in field experiences and student teaching or internships.

#### Important:

#### All placements are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office. <u>Teacher candidates do not ever contact the school or school system directly to</u> <u>arrange or change a placement.</u>

## **Observation Guide**

#### What is an Observation?

In an observation, candidates simply watch what is happening in the classroom with a focus on a particular assignment. For example, if candidates are observing for a classroom management assignment, they will watch for and take notes on how teachers and students interact regarding behavior, class procedures, etc. In an observation, candidates do not work with or interact with the students in the classroom. Candidates may observe for up to 10 hours per semester as required by classes at Brenau.

Among other requirements, candidates must meet these requirements before they are placed in an observation.

- Pass a criminal background check
- Submit proof of current professional liability insurance

#### **Teacher Interview**

As a requirement for admission to Teacher Education, candidates will interview a practicing teacher with questions supplied through ED 100/501 Clinical Experiences Seminar and is arranged by the student. They may interview a teacher anywhere in the country, as long as that teacher is certified within the area that the student is seeking. The resulting reflection paper will be submitted through Livetext.

#### **Non Certification Programs**

Candidates who are in education programs that do not lead to Georgia Teacher Certification may complete observations associated with their placement embedded courses. These observations are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office and candidates complete assignments before and after the observation. Non certification candidates receive information about their observation placements and supervision from the Clinical Experiences Office.

## **Field Experience Guide**

In a field experience, teacher candidates work with individual students, as well as small and large groups, in a classroom setting. It is <u>NOT</u> just an observation. Teacher candidates work with a mentor teacher whose job matches the certification the candidate is seeking. Candidates plan and teach lessons, conduct and analyze assessments, and assist with other duties (recess, bus, etc.) as the opportunity arises.

Teacher candidates spend 48 hours during the semester in field experiences in identified grade bands as required by the GA PSC for their major. Each field experience is part of a placement embedded course.

Among other requirements, candidates must meet these requirements before they are placed in a field experience.

- Hold a Georgia Preservice Certificate
- Have current professional liability insurance

## Placement Embedded Courses

Methods courses have been identified in each major as placement embedded courses. When teacher candidates take these courses, they complete a field experience at the same time. Candidates complete a Field Experience Project in LiveText in each placement as well as assignments from the placement embedded course instructor. <u>Candidates must satisfactorily</u> complete the field experience requirements in order to receive credit for the placement embedded course.

Each placement is for 48 hours of school time. The placement matches the candidates' major in terms of grade bands, and the methods courses in which the placements are embedded.

Field experience placements are for one whole semester and begin at the start of Brenau's semester. The schools are expecting the candidate at the start of Brenau's semester. Teacher candidates need to be sure they schedule their placement hours throughout their placement embedded course/s because they will have assignments from the course instructor that must be completed in the placement. In other words, candidates should not schedule their visits to begin several weeks after the course starts or to end halfway through the course. Candidates need to be able to complete the assignments the instructor gives while they are in the placement; these assignments will be turned in to the instructor. If the candidate has questions, the course instructor or the university supervisor can help.

The following placement embedded courses include assignments that will be carried out in a field experience placement. Teacher candidates must have a field experience placement in order to register for these courses. Candidates should check their program plans to see the placement embedded courses for their major and their course rotation to see the semester in which each course is offered. If a candidate did not request a placement by the published deadline, he/she will not be able to register for a placement embedded course.

Course NumberCourse TitleED309Foundations in Arts EducationED345Reading ConceptsED383Teaching Math ECEED384Teaching Science ECEED385Teaching Science MGED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED413Literacy MethodologiesED414Literacy MethodologiesED415Content Methods for Middle GradesED416Content Methods - ArtED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - ArtED590DContent Methods - InearceED590DContent Methods - InearceED590DContent Methods - InearceED590DContent Methods - InearceED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED685Methods of Teaching ScienceED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching ScienceED688Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE401Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral AnalysisSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral AnalysisSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral A	Placement Embedded Courses			
ED345Reading ConceptsED383Teaching Math ECEED384Teaching Science ECEED385Teaching Science ECEED393Teaching Science MGED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Science MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED413Literacy MethodologiesED414Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED608Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED645Methods of TeachersED646Methods of TeachersED647Methods of Teaching ScienceED648Methods of TeachersED649Assessment for Literacy EducationED647Methods of TeachersED648Methods of TeachersED649Language Development and DisabilitiesSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE401Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE403Applied Behaviora AnalysisSE404SE607Assessment of Lararing PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	Course Number Course Title			
ED383Teaching Math ECEED384Teaching Science ECEED385Teaching Social Studies ECEED393Teaching Social Studies ECEED394Teaching Social Studies MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED590AContent Methods - MusicED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - MusicED590DContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED608Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED645Methods of Teaching ScienceED647Methods of Teaching ScienceED648Methods of Teaching ScienceED647Methods of Teaching ScienceED648Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and MaterialsSE607Assessment of Lararing PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED309	Foundations in Arts Education		
ED384Teaching Science ECEED385Teaching Social Studies ECEED393Teaching Social Studies ECEED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED414Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - MusicED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED699Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials - Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED345	Reading Concepts		
ED385Teaching Social Studies ECEED393Teaching Math MGED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - InacceED590DContent Methods - InacceED590DContent Methods - InacceED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED606Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Aterials - Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED383	Teaching Math ECE		
ED393Teaching Math MGED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED606Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy for TeachersED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED633Methods of Teaching ScienceED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and MaterialsSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED384	Teaching Science ECE		
ED394Teaching Science MGED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE400Tests and MeasurementsSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED385	Teaching Social Studies ECE		
ED395Teaching Social Studies MGED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy Methods of TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED393	Teaching Math MG		
ED413Literacy MethodologiesED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED606Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED607Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE407Assessment of Liearning PotentialSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED394	Teaching Science MG		
ED418Literacy Methods for Middle GradesED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials - Mild DisabilitiesSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED395	Teaching Social Studies MG		
ED419Literacy Assessment and DiagnosisED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language Arts ECEED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED643Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE407Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED413	Literacy Methodologies		
ED420Teaching Language Arts ECEED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED418	Literacy Methods for Middle Grades		
ED440Teaching Language ArtsED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED419	Literacy Assessment and Diagnosis		
ED590AContent Methods - ArtED590BContent Methods - MusicED590CContent Methods - DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED420	Teaching Language Arts ECE		
ED590BContent Methods – MusicED590CContent Methods – DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED440	Teaching Language Arts		
ED590CContent Methods – DanceED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED590A	Content Methods - Art		
ED590DContent Methods - TheatreED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED590B	Content Methods – Music		
ED605Understanding and Managing LearnersED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED590C	Content Methods – Dance		
ED607Literacy Knowledge and FoundationsED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED590D	Content Methods - Theatre		
ED608Literacy Methods and MaterialsED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED605	Understanding and Managing Learners		
ED609Reading and Writing Methods for AdolescentsED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED607	Literacy Knowledge and Foundations		
ED619Assessment for Literacy EducationED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED608	Literacy Methods and Materials		
ED631Literacy for TeachersED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED609	Reading and Writing Methods for Adolescents		
ED632Social Studies for TeachersED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED619	Assessment for Literacy Education		
ED686Methods of Teaching ScienceED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED631	Literacy for Teachers		
ED687Methods of Teaching MathMC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED632	Social Studies for Teachers		
MC357Music Education Methods and MaterialsSE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED686	Methods of Teaching Science		
SE407Tests and MeasurementsSE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	ED687	Methods of Teaching Math		
SE408Applied Behavior AnalysisSE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	MC357	Music Education Methods and Materials		
SE409Language Development and DisabilitiesSE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	SE407	Tests and Measurements		
SE410Nature of Mild DisabilitiesSE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	SE408	Applied Behavior Analysis		
SE411Methods and Materials – Mild DisabilitiesSE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	SE409			
SE607Assessment of Learning PotentialSE608Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	SE410			
SE608 Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis	SE411	Methods and Materials – Mild Disabilities		
	SE607	Assessment of Learning Potential		
	SE608	Advanced Applied Behavioral Analysis		
SE/10 Learners with Mild Disabilities	SE710	Learners with Mild Disabilities		
SE711 Methods and Materials of Mild Disabilities	SE711	Methods and Materials of Mild Disabilities		

#### **Placement Embedded Courses**

## **\*** Requesting a Field Experience Placement

All placements are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office. <u>Candidates do not ever</u> <u>contact the school or school system directly to arrange or change a placement.</u> Candidates should not discuss a placement with anyone in a school or school district office until <u>after</u> they have received a confirmation form for their placement. In most cases, candidates will have input into the placements Brenau requests for them. Once they have submitted their placement application, candidates should check their Brenau email daily in case there are any questions. When the placement request has been confirmed, candidates will receive an email near the beginning of the semester from the Clinical Experiences Office with instructions for contacting the mentor teacher to schedule the school visits.

## • Teacher candidates must submit a Field Experience Placement Request in LiveText by the published deadline (January 21 for Fall Semester placements and September 21 for Spring Semester placements). There are no summer placements.

Think of it this way. When a candidate registers for a math course, he simply goes to the listed classroom on the first day of class. With a field experience placement, however, Brenau must arrange for a school to allow the candidate to come into a classroom. This means that the Clinical Experiences Office must process and approve each candidate's placement application. Then the office must send the school system's contact person a request for their placement. This person processes the request, making sure the candidate meets the system's requirements, and then sends the request to the school where the principal or his designee talks with a teacher in the grade level or subject the candidate asked for and decides whether to approve or decline the request. That approval or denial is then sent back to the school system's contact person who replies to the Clinical Experiences Office. If the request is denied, the process must start over again. Because of all these steps, and because candidates are in competition with all education candidates from other universities who are request is denied, placement requests cannot be changed.

- Candidates must submit a Field Experience Placement Request through LiveText. The placement request must be filled out completely. If the Clinical Experiences Office has to contact a candidate regarding information omitted from the request, the candidate's placement could be delayed. Instructions for submitting the Field Experience Placement Request are in LiveText.
- The deadline for applying for a field experience placement for Spring Semester is September 21 and the deadline for applying for a field experience placement in Fall Semester is January 21. Teacher candidates should put these deadline dates on their calendar and watch their email for reminders that the deadline is near. Late applications or appeals for late applications cannot be accepted. Think carefully before you list the schools you are requesting.
  - Once candidates request placement for a field or clinical experience, they are expected to complete that placement. The placement request is sent in the candidate's name. It does not give a good impression of the candidate if schools and school systems grant the placement request and then are notified that the candidate is not coming. Teacher candidates should talk with their advisor about their program plan and check the placement plan they

created in ED100/501; they should make sure they are following the plan and are committed to it before they apply for placement.

- Because field experiences are embedded in content and methods courses, candidates will only be allowed to request a "stand-alone" field experience (not connected to a placement embedded course) if ALL placement embedded courses for their major have been completed.
- All placements are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office; candidates do not ever contact the school or school system directly to arrange or change a placement. In most cases, candidates will have input into the placements we request for them.
- Candidates may not request placement or be placed in a school where they have a relative who is employed or in a school where they have a relative who is enrolled as a student. This is for the Brenau candidates' benefit. It allows them to play one role in their placement; it also allows the school to see them as a future teacher rather than a parent, volunteer, family member, etc. It reduces distractions for the candidate and allows them to focus on demonstrating their knowledge and skills as an educator while they are there.
- During their placements, candidates will be placed in diverse settings that allow them to experience working with students of different ethnicities, of low socio-economic levels, with special needs, in different settings (rural, suburban, and rural), with English language learners, as well as with students in the different grade bands of their major. This is in compliance with the rules of the PSC.
- Note: Information from the GA PSC now makes it possible for a candidate who is employed in a school to complete some field experiences and student teaching in her job setting. If a candidate is employed in a school, she should email Mrs. Kim Davis at kdavis@brenau.edu to see if his/her job setting meets the requirements to make this possible.

## \* Registering for a Field Experience

The placement request application only asks the Clinical Experiences Office to find the candidate a school in which to complete the placement. When registration opens, candidates still must register through CampusWEB to take the placement embedded course associated with the field experience.

## • Candidates must have a placement in order to register for a placement embedded course.

This means that candidates who did not request a field experience placement by the published deadline will not have a placement and will not be able to register for a placement embedded course.

For example, ED383 Teaching Math ECE is a placement embedded course. Teacher candidates must have a field experience placement in order to complete some assignments in this course. A candidate who did not request a field experience will not be able to register for this course.

When candidate registers on CampusWEB for a placement embedded course, she will see a **FE100** message; it means that this registration requires approval from the Clinical Experiences Office.

The candidate will then email the Clinical Experiences Office at <u>jwilson5@brenau.edu</u> and let the office know the course/s she wants to take.

If the candidate is registering for more than one placement embedded course, each course must be included in the email. It is important to list every placement embedded course for which the candidate wishes to register.

The Clinical Experiences Office will check to make sure the candidate requested a field experience placement for that semester. If so, they will email the candidate with further instructions. If the candidate did not submit a placement request by the published deadline, the office will contact the candidate to let her know that she will not be able to register for the placement embedded course/s that semester.

• Candidates with an older program plan must also register for the field experience course. It is important that candidates check their program plan. If field experiences are listed as separate courses on their program plan, they must register for the field experience course in addition to the placement embedded course. The candidates' advisor can help if they have questions about whether or not they need to register for a field experience course.

## **\*** Preparing for a Field Experience

• Communication about the field experience will come to the candidate through her Brenau email.

It is very important that candidates check their Brenau email <u>daily</u> when they have submitted a placement request. Sometimes there is more information needed, questions that must be answered, or changes that need to be communicated. The candidate should continue to check her Brenau email daily for any communication regarding the placement.

- Teacher candidates should make sure they have submitted all requirements through LiveText as soon as possible. For example, if a candidate already has a preservice certificate, she should go ahead and submit it and not wait for the deadline. If the candidate misses a deadline, her field experience placement request will be put on hold until that requirement is met. This could jeopardize her field experience and could mean that she will not be placed in the school or in the semester she requested.
- The final deadline posted for ALL field experience requirements cannot be extended.
- Candidates will see their placement confirmation in LiveText as soon as all the requirements have been submitted and the school system has confirmed the placement request. This information will be visible in the placement application assignment.

- When a placement request has been approved and confirmed by the schools and a university supervisor has been assigned to the candidate, the candidate will be notified shortly before the start of the semester through her Brenau email that the field experience placement has been finalized. The candidate will complete the Field Experience Contract, have it signed by the mentor teacher, and submit it through the Field Experience Project in LiveText when the field experience begins.
- The candidate will follow instructions on the contract form to contact the university supervisor and the mentor teacher.
- The candidate will set up the placement schedule with the mentor teacher. This schedule will be based on the mentor teacher's classroom schedule and the candidate's schedule, with consideration of the methods courses that the candidate will take that semester.
- The candidate should check the school's website or ask the mentor teacher about the school's dress code for staff members. It is the candidate's responsibility to know and follow the school's dress code each time she goes to the school.
- Once the placement has been confirmed, the candidate should look at the state standards for the grade level and subject/s she will be working with in the placement.
- The candidate should read the Field Experience Documents and Links available on the Clinical Experiences website.
- In some semesters, the candidate's placement embedded course/s may only be in the second session of the semester. Regardless, the candidate must contact the mentor teacher as instructed in the Field Experience Contract. The school and mentor teacher are expecting to hear from the candidate in order to plan for the field experience.

The candidate should plan attending the field experience <u>at the beginning of the semester</u> and should keep in mind the due date for each of her Field Experience Projects in LiveText.

• When a candidate receives her Field Experience Contract, she should contact the mentor teacher to introduce herself and set up the schedule for her visits to the school. Contact information is included on the contract form. The candidate should keep in mind that field experience placements are for one whole semester and begin at the start of Brenau's semester. The schools are expecting the candidate at the start of Brenau's semester. Teacher candidates need to be sure they schedule their placement hours throughout their placement embedded course/s because they will have assignments from the placement embedded course instructor that must be completed in the placement. In other words, the candidate should not schedule her visits to begin several weeks after the course starts or to end halfway through the course. The candidate need to be able to complete the assignments the instructor gives while she is in the placement; these assignments will be turned in to the instructor. Also, the candidate should be at the school during instructional time that matches the placement embedded course/s. When she is taking a math methods course, she should be at the school during math instruction. If the candidate has questions, the course instructor or the university supervisor can help.

## **\*** Completing a Field Experience

- Once the candidate and mentor teacher have agreed upon a schedule for visits to the school, it is very important that the candidate follows that schedule. The mentor teacher will be expecting the candidate to be there at the scheduled day and time. Changes should <u>only</u> be made for emergencies and these should be very rare. If the candidate must change the schedule, she must notify the mentor teacher AND the university supervisor ahead of time. Tardies, absences, and leaving the placement early all are considered in the candidate's field experience evaluation.
- Attendance and punctuality are very important parts of professional behavior in the field experience and will be considered in the field experience evaluation. In other words, all tardies, absences, and leaving the placement early all are considered in the candidate's field experience evaluation.

An absence should be due to an emergency. The candidate should notify both the mentor teacher and the university supervisor if she MUST be absent.

- IMPORTANT NOTE: Teaching candidates should not use a cell phone, tablet, laptop, etc., during the time they are in the school unless the device is being used, with the mentor teacher's permission, to teach students. These devices should be <u>turned off</u> and put away during the field experience.
- The field experience begins at the start of the semester. In some semesters, the candidate's placement embedded course/s may only be in the second session of the semester. Regardless, the candidate must contact the mentor teacher as instructed in the Field Experience Contract. The school and mentor teacher are expecting to hear from the candidate in order to plan for the field experience.

The candidate must meet the due date for submitting **ALL** Field Experience Project Assignments in LiveText. These begin at the start of the semester.

• It is important that the candidate know and understand how to calculate the hours she spends in the field experience placement. It is expected that most of the time will still be instructional time. However, candidates may also include non-instructional time that is spent participating with the mentor teacher and/or students (during planning, recess duty, bus duty, lunch duty, before and/or after school duties). This will allow candidates to be at school for almost an entire day (up to seven hours), if that works into the candidate's <u>and</u> the teacher's schedules

Note: Teacher candidates may not count time spent at school away from the mentor teacher and students. For example, a candidate may not go to the library and work on an assignment (including the Field Experience Project) while the students and mentor teacher are at lunch, recess, etc., and count that as part of their field experience time. Candidates may count up to seven hours of school time per day in the field experience. These seven hours must be allowable time as described above.

- Candidates must complete all the requirements of the field experience and any assignments for the field experience <u>on time</u>. This is very important! If the candidate needs help or if she has questions, the candidate should ask the university supervisor. Missed deadlines and late assignments will be considered in the field experience evaluation.
- All field experience requirements must be satisfactorily completed in order to receive credit for the placement embedded courses.
- Field experience candidates should remember that all knowledge about learners is confidential and should only be shared within professional guidelines. If in doubt about whether to comment on learners, you must not say anything until you have checked with one of your supervisors or an administrator. It is okay to say, "I will have to check" or "I do not know."
- In all speaking and writing (including emails and journals), the candidate is expected to communicate clearly, using correct grammar, spelling, and punctuation. This will be considered in the field experience evaluation.
- <u>All field experiences must be satisfactorily completed in order for a candidate to be eligible</u> <u>for student teaching.</u>
- The candidate should remember that she is building her professional reputation. The university supervisor and the people the candidate works with at the school are likely the ones she will ask for references when she applies for her first teaching position!
- It is always a good idea to write a thank you note to the supervising teacher at the end of the field experience. The mentor teacher has given her time and shared her expertise during the field experience on top of her normal duties and a thank you note lets her know that this has been appreciated. It also leaves a very good impression!

#### **Policies and Procedures**

#### Absences

**Teacher candidates are expected to follow the schedule they made with the mentor teacher.** This means that changes should only be made when absolutely necessary. In the case of illness or emergency, candidates should call the mentor teacher as early as possible, preferably the night before, certainly no later than 7:00 a.m. They should notify the university supervisor that day by email unless a visit by the supervisor has been scheduled. If the university supervisor is visiting that day and the candidate will not be at school or if school has been canceled for inclement weather, she should call the university supervisor early enough to reach the university supervisor before he or she leaves home. Questions regarding this regulation should be addressed to your university supervisor.

#### If the candidate is absent when she is scheduled to teach, she must provide lesson plans to

#### the person who will teach her class.

#### Appearance

The candidate's appearance should reflect good personal grooming and hygiene. He/she should be working now to build a professional wardrobe so that, when it is time for student teaching, there are enough professional pieces in the candidate's wardrobe to allow him/her to dress professionally every day.

**Candidates are expected to dress in a professional manner irrespective of the type of dress allowed in the school.** For women, this would mean dresses, skirts, or slacks, and blouses, suits, or sweaters. For men, appropriate attire is considered to be slacks, collared shirt, and a possibly a tie. Sport shirts are acceptable if they are collared.

<u>Jeans and t-shirts are unacceptable</u>. Note: If your school has special dress up days (e.g., "jeans day," "dress as favorite book character day," "Braves Spirit Day," etc.) you are encouraged to dress appropriate to the event, still in a professional manner.

It is important for candidates to find out the dress code of the school, and, if there are requirements in addition to Brenau's requirements, those must also be followed.

#### **Corporal Punishment**

A Brenau teacher candidate does not participate in or act as an official witness to any act(s) of corporal punishment.

#### Money

Brenau teacher candidates do not collect or handle money in the field experience.

#### **Arrival and Departure Times**

Candidates are expected to be <u>in the classroom</u> by the time agreed upon by the candidate and mentor teacher and remain <u>in the classroom</u> until the agreed upon departure time. This does not mean the time the candidate arrives and leaves the school building, but the time spent in the classroom with the mentor teacher and students. If the candidate has questions about this, she should contact her university supervisor for advice.

#### Confidentiality

Candidates should remember that all knowledge they have about learners is **confidential** and should only be shared within professional guidelines. If the candidate is in doubt about whether to comment on learners, she must not say anything until she has checked with one of the supervisors or an administrator. It is okay to say, "I will have to check" or "I do not know."

#### **Ethical Behavior**

Candidates should exhibit ethical behavior at all times. This means that they should refrain from discussing with anyone other than the two supervisors any negative reactions they might have. Should they have professional concerns, they should discuss these **confidentially** with their university supervisor.

#### **Liability Insurance**

Candidates must obtain professional liability insurance through a professional organization or private insurance firm. Candidates will not be placed in a field experience without having submitted proof of current professional liability insurance by the due date posted in LiveText.

#### **GA Preservice Certificate**

Candidates may not be placed or participate in a field experience without a current GA Preservice Certificate. This must be submitted by the due date posted in LiveText.

#### **Assignments to Complete in Field Experiences**

#### Placement Embedded Course Assignments

Teacher candidates receive instructions from the placement embedded course instructor for course assignments to be accomplished in conjunction with the placement. These assignments are completed in the field experience setting and turned in to the placement embedded course instructor for evaluation.

## It is very important to remember that, as stated in the syllabus, if the candidate does not satisfactorily complete the requirements for the field experience, she will not receive credit for the placement embedded course.

• Field Experience Project

The Field Experience Project in LiveText consists of assignments that all candidates will complete in every field experience. The university supervisor evaluates the field experience project. The Field Experience Project assignments are available in LiveText at the beginning of the semester.

All instructions and due dates are included in each Field Experience Project assignment in LiveText. It is important that these assignments be completed and submitted by each posted due date. Late assignments will be considered in the field experience evaluation.

## ✤ Field Experience Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation

- Assignments from the placement embedded course are given by, submitted to, and evaluated by the placement embedded course instructor. The candidate will receive instructions for these assignments from the course instructor.
- Candidates must satisfactorily complete **all requirements of the field experience** in order to receive credit for each placement embedded course associated with that field experience.
- Instructions for the assignments in the Field Experience Project for each field experience are included in LiveText. These assignments are submitted through LiveText and evaluated by the university supervisor. All of these assignments must be satisfactorily completed in order to receive credit for the placement embedded courses associated with the field

experience. Submitting each assignment by the posted due date is very important! This is considered in the field experience evaluation.

- At the end of the field experience, the supervisor evaluates the candidate and notifies the placement embedded course instructor whether or not the candidate has satisfactorily completed the requirements of the field experience. The candidate's performance in her field experience affects her completion of the content or methods course attached to the placement.
- Teacher candidates must complete all field experiences required for their major before they are eligible for student teaching.

## ✤ Field Experience Team

Teacher candidates have three leaders who guide and evaluate them in each field experience. These are the mentor teacher, the university supervisor, and the placement embedded course instructor.

#### Mentor Teacher

Mentor teachers play a very important role in the preparation of preservice teachers and Brenau is very grateful for their contributions!

Mentor teachers receive initial information that a field experience candidate is coming to their classroom from their school administration. Once placements have been finalized, the Clinical Experiences Office notifies candidates of their confirmed placement and candidates contact their assigned mentor teacher. This is usually done by email at least a couple of weeks before the semester begins. In this initial email, the candidate includes the name and contact information (Brenau email address) for their assigned university supervisor. The mentor teacher is encouraged to contact the university supervisor if he/she has concerns during the field experience placement.

The candidate asks the mentor teacher for a daily class schedule and arranges a schedule for visiting the classroom with the mentor teacher's advice and help. Candidates participate for 48 hours in each of their field experience placements. Each placement is embedded in one or more methods courses that the candidate takes simultaneously with the field experience. The placement should be planned to last throughout the content or methods course. **Once the schedule has been set, the candidate is expected to follow this schedule.** 

The candidate has certain assignments that he/she is responsible for completing. Candidates are required to plan and teach one or more lessons during each field experience. The candidate's university supervisor visits the school and observes the candidate teach one of these lessons during each field experience. The date and time for each lesson is coordinated by the candidate to accommodate both the mentor teacher and the university supervisor. At that visit, the university supervisor speaks briefly with the mentor teacher to ask about the candidate's participation in the field experience, particularly regarding professional behavior (attendance, punctuality, dress code, being prepared, interaction with staff and students, etc. Following the

lesson, the university supervisor meets with the candidate to discuss the lesson and offer feedback.

If the candidate has requested placement in a school that is not near a Brenau campus, lesson observations are conducted by video. The candidate videos herself teaching a lesson and posts the video on LiveText. The university supervisor views the video and gives feedback through email and the lesson observation feedback form. All information and instructions for the video, as well as forms (including the video permission form required for every student in the video) are included in the LiveText assignment.

In the second and third field experience, the mentor teacher also formally observes the candidate teach one lesson and gives feedback on the observation feedback form. This form is located in the Mentor Teacher's documents in the Field Experience Documents posted on the Field and Clinical Experiences website and is given to the mentor teacher by the candidate.

At the midpoint and again at the end of the placement, the mentor teacher is asked to complete the Placement Dispositions Rubric (PDR). This feedback will allow Brenau to help guide our candidates to improve their performance in each successive placement.

#### • University Supervisor

University supervisors serve as the primary contact for candidates and mentor teachers, and as the evaluator for candidates during their field experiences. Candidates are notified by the Clinical Experiences Office and told who their university supervisor will be; supervisors may also email their assigned candidates in an initial contact.

During the candidate's initial email to the assigned mentor teacher, she should provide the teacher with the name and contact information for the university supervisor. This contact information should be the university supervisor's Brenau email address.

As the placement progresses, the university supervisor will evaluate assignments posted by the candidate in LiveText. The supervisor may also comment or give feedback during the field experience through LiveText and/or through Brenau's email. Whether the candidate submitted the assignment by the posted due date in LiveText is considered in the evaluation.

Most interaction during the field experience is through LiveText and Brenau's email; however, the university supervisor does make a visit to the school, or watch the videoed lesson in a remote placement, when the candidate is teaching a lesson. The candidate plans the lesson with the instructor of the placement embedded course. The university supervisor observes the lesson and gives feedback on the lesson delivery.

Teacher candidates have been reminded that, as listed in their course syllabus, they must satisfactorily complete the requirements of the field experience placement in order to receive credit for the attached content or methods course.

## **Residency Guide**

### What is a Residency? (note-A Residency does not fit all situations. Check with your advisor to see if you should apply for one for FE3/Student Teaching).

A residency a year-long placement (two consecutive semesters) in the same school. It is the final placement in a candidate's program and includes both the final field experience (fall semester) and student teaching (spring semester). Residency placements are only made for a fall-spring placement. Otherwise, the candidate completes a regular third field experience and then student teaching, not necessarily in the same school.

## \* Applying for a Residency

- All placements are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office. <u>Candidates do not ever</u> <u>contact the school or school system directly to arrange or change a placement.</u> Candidates should not discuss a placement with anyone in a school or school district office until <u>after</u> they have received a confirmation form for their placement. In most cases, candidates will have input into the placements Brenau requests for them. Once they have submitted their placement application, candidates should check their Brenau email daily in case there are any questions. When the placement request has been confirmed, candidates will receive an email near the beginning of the semester from the Clinical Experiences Office with instructions for contacting the cooperating teacher.
  - The deadline for applying for a residency placement to begin in Fall Semester is January 21. Candidates should put this deadline dates on their calendar and watch their email for reminders that the deadline is near. Late applications or appeals for late applications cannot be accepted.
  - Candidates must submit a Residency Placement Application through LiveText. The placement request must be filled out <u>completely</u>. If the Clinical Experiences Office has to contact a candidate regarding information omitted from the request, the candidate's placement could be delayed. Instructions for submitting the request are in LiveText.
  - Candidates must meet follow instructions in LiveText to secure verification from their advisor that they are indeed eligible for a residency.
  - Think carefully before you list the schools you are requesting. Once a placement request has been submitted, it cannot be changed unless the school system denies the placement request.

- Once candidates submit an application for a residency placement, they are expected to complete that placement. The placement request is sent in the candidate's name. It does not give a good impression of the candidate if schools and school systems grant the placement request and then are notified that the candidate is not coming. Candidates should talk with their advisor about their program plan; they should make sure they are following the plan and are committed to it before they apply for a residency placement.
- Teacher candidates may not request placement or be placed in a school
  - where a relative is employed
  - where a relative is enrolled as a student
  - where the candidate attended as a student (when possible)

This is for the Brenau candidates' benefit. It allows them to play one role during their residency; it also allows the school to see them as a future teacher rather than a parent, volunteer, former student, family member, etc. It reduces distractions for the candidate and allows them to focus on demonstrating their knowledge and skills as an educator while they are there.

• Note: Information from the GA PSC now makes it possible for a candidate who is employed in a school to complete a residency in their job setting. If a candidate is employed in a school, she should email Mrs. Kim Davis at <u>kdavis@brenau.edu</u> to see if his/her job setting meets the requirements to make this possible.

#### After the residency placement request has been confirmed:

- The fall semester of the residency is the final field experience. For this semester, the candidate will follow the information and instructions in the Field Experience Guide of this document, beginning with Registering for a Field Experience.
- The spring semester of the residency is the student teaching semester. For this semester, the candidate will follow the information and instructions in the Student Teaching Guide of this document, beginning with Registering for Student Teaching.

## **Student Teaching Guide**

## **\*** What is Student Teaching?

Student teaching is a full-time placement that lasts one full semester, per the Georgia Professional Standards Commission. It is designed to provide the student teacher with opportunities to practice and demonstrate the skills, knowledge and behaviors developed during the teacher education program. Teacher candidates gradually take on the duties and responsibilities of the mentor teacher; they have full responsibility for all planning, instruction, assessment, management, and duties for a minimum of four weeks. Throughout student teaching, candidates also complete Student Teaching Project assignments in LiveText.

During the student teaching experience, the candidate engages in the practice of skills, techniques, and knowledge acquired in both the classroom and field-based settings. In that setting, the candidate is expected to try out, revise, and finally refine these skills necessary for successful teaching. The major purpose, then, is to provide the candidate an opportunity to demonstrate in a realistic setting that they do in fact possess the skills, knowledge and behaviors required of a beginning classroom teacher.

Among other requirements, student teachers must meet these requirements before they are placed for student teaching.

- Have completed all other courses, as well as all observations and field experiences.
- Hold a current Georgia Preservice Certificate
- Show proof of current professional liability insurance
- Have passed all applicable GACE content area exams
- Meet GPA requirements (2.75 undergraduate, 3.0 MAT students)

Course Number	Course Title
ED429	Student Teaching – Early Childhood Education (undergrad)
ED697	Student Teaching – Early Childhood Education (MAT)
ED449	Student Teaching – Middle Grades (undergraduate)
ED698	Student Teaching – Middle Grades (MAT)
ED618	Student Teaching – Secondary (MAT)
ED616	Student Teaching – Fine Arts (MAT)
SE493	Student Teaching – Special Education (undergrad)
SE730	Student Teaching – Special Education (MAT)
MC356L, 357	Student Teaching – Music Education (undergraduate)

#### **Student Teaching Courses**

Either ED415 Applied Instruction (undergrad) or ED700 Clinical Practice Seminar (MAT)) is also taken during student teaching. This course supports candidates as they complete the requirements for student teaching, including guidance as the candidate completes the edTPA.

## \* Applying for Student Teaching

- All placements are arranged by the Clinical Experiences Office. <u>Candidates do not ever</u> <u>contact the school or school system directly to arrange or change a placement.</u> Candidates should not discuss a placement with anyone in a school or school district office until <u>after</u> they have received a confirmation form for their placement. In most cases, candidates will have input into the placements Brenau requests for them. Once they have submitted their placement application, candidates should check their Brenau email daily in case there are any questions. When the placement request has been confirmed, candidates will receive an email near the beginning of the semester from the Clinical Experiences Office with instructions for contacting the mentor teacher.
- The deadline for applying for a student teaching placement for Spring Semester is September 21 and the deadline for applying for a student teaching placement in Fall Semester is January 21. Candidates should put these deadline dates on their calendar and watch their email for reminders that the deadline is near. Late applications or appeals for late applications cannot be accepted.
- Candidates must submit a Student Teaching Placement Application through LiveText. The placement request must be filled out <u>completely</u>. If the Clinical Experiences Office has to contact a candidate regarding information omitted from the request, the candidate's placement could be delayed. Instructions for submitting the request are in LiveText.
- Candidates must meet follow instructions in LiveText to secure verification from their advisor that they are indeed eligible for student teaching.
- Think carefully before you list the schools you are requesting. Once a placement request has been submitted, it cannot be changed unless the school system denies the placement request.
- Once candidates submit an application for a student teaching placement, they are expected to complete that placement. The placement request is sent in the candidate's name. It does not give a good impression of the candidate if schools and school systems grant the placement request and then are notified that the candidate is not coming. Candidates should talk with their advisor about their program plan; they should make sure they are following the plan and are committed to it before they apply for a student teaching placement.

- Teacher candidates may not request placement or be placed in a school
  - where a relative is employed
  - where a relative is enrolled as a student
  - where the candidate attended as a student (where possible)

As mentioned before, this is for the Brenau candidates' benefit. It allows them to play one role during their student teaching; it also allows the school to see them as a future teacher rather than a parent, volunteer, former student, family member, etc. It reduces distractions for the candidate and allows them to focus on demonstrating their knowledge and skills as an educator while they are there.

- It is possible for a candidate who is employed in a school to complete some field experiences and student teaching in their job setting. This information is part of the ED 100/501 Clinical Experiences Seminar course. If a candidate is employed in a school, she should email Mrs. Kim Davis at <u>kdavis@brenau.edu</u> to see if his/her job setting meets the requirements to make this possible.
- Student teaching is a "full semester" commitment, according to the Georgia Professional Standards Commission. Candidates will be participating full-time at the school with the same schedule the teacher has. This includes before and after school duties such as bus, car rider, and breakfast, as well as meetings, tutoring, conferences, planning, workshops, PTA, curriculum nights, spaghetti suppers, Saturday fall festivals, student programs, etc. These could include some afternoon, evening, or even weekend time.

Candidates will also have the responsibilities of planning, materials preparation, and grading and they will find that this does not fit into the school day. They will be spending time working at home in the evenings and on weekends, too.

It is important for candidates to start <u>NOW</u> thinking of their responsibilities that may need special consideration and preparation.

- Will they need child care? Do they care for elderly parents or have other special responsibilities? Candidates should be sure they have a back-up plan and a backup plan for the back-up plan! Attendance during student teaching is critical and candidates are expected to be there every day. Any time missed must be only for an emergency and must be made up at the end of student teaching.
- Is the candidate an officer in her sorority or other campus, church, or community organization? Now is a good time to arrange for someone else to assume their duties while they are student teaching. This is not the time to agree to be an officer in a sorority or other organization, chair the bake sale, coach the little league team, or take on any other role that would require much of the candidate's time.
- > Do they need to make any arrangements for transportation?

Do they have a job now? What arrangements do they need to be away from their job? Remember that student teaching truly is full-time.

Thinking of these things now will help the candidate better plan and make arrangements for any support she will need during her student teaching semester.

## \* Registering for Student Teaching

- The student teaching application only asks the Clinical Experiences Office to find the candidate a school in which to complete student teaching. Teacher candidates still must register through CampusWEB office to take the two courses associated with student teaching.
- Candidates must submit all student teaching requirements in LiveText **before they will be cleared to register** for their student teaching courses. They will then register in CampusWEB for their courses.
- Candidates register for 9 hours of student teaching <u>and</u> either ED415 Applied Instruction (undergraduate candidates) or ED700 Clinical Practice Seminar (MAT students).

## \* Preparing for Student Teaching

- Communication about student teaching will come to the candidate through her Brenau email. It is very important that candidates check their Brenau email <u>daily</u> when they have submitted a student teaching placement request. Sometimes there is more information needed, questions that must be answered, or changes that need to be made. The candidate should continue to check her Brenau email daily for any communication regarding the student teaching placement.
- Candidates should make sure they have submitted all requirements through LiveText as soon as possible. For example, if a candidate already has a preservice certificate, she should go ahead and submit it and not wait for the deadline. If the candidate misses a deadline, his/her student teaching application will be put on hold until that requirement is met. This could jeopardize her student teaching, and could result in the candidate not being placed in the school or in the semester she requested.
- Candidates will not be able to register for any student teaching courses until all student teaching placement requirements have been met. Candidates will receive an email when they have been cleared to register. Candidates should not ask any advisor or staff member in the registrar's office to help them register before they have been cleared.
- <u>Teaching candidates must attend the mandatory Student Teaching</u> <u>Orientation</u>. The orientation date is listed on the student teaching application.

- Candidates should become familiar with all the student teaching documents on the Clinical Experiences website.
- Candidates will see their student teaching placement confirmation in LiveText as soon as all of their requirements have been submitted and the school system has confirmed the student teaching placement request.
- Once a placement request has been approved and confirmed by the schools, and a university supervisor has been assigned to the candidate, the candidate will be notified through his/her Brenau email that the student teaching placement has been finalized. The candidate will complete the student teaching contract, have it signed by the mentor teacher and submit it through the Student Teaching Project in LiveText when student teaching begins. It is very important that the candidate read and carefully consider each item that requires initials or a signature. The candidate is held responsible for everything he/she initials and/or signs.
- The candidate will follow instructions on the confirmation form to contact the university supervisor and the mentor teacher.
- The candidate should check the school's website or ask the mentor teacher about the school's dress code for staff members. It is the candidate's responsibility to know and follow the school's dress code each time she goes to the school.
- Once the placement has been confirmed, the candidate should look at the state standards for the grade level and subject/s she will be working with in the placement.
- The candidate should read the Student Teaching Documents and Links available on the Clinical Experiences website.

## \* Completing Student Teaching

- Candidates should complete all the requirements of student teaching and any assignments <u>on</u> <u>time</u>. This is very important! The candidate should ask the university supervisor if he/she needs help or if he/she has questions. **Missed deadlines and late assignments will be considered in the student teaching evaluation.**
- In all speaking and writing (including emails and journals), the candidate is expected to communicate clearly, using correct grammar, spelling, and punctuation. This will be considered in the student teaching evaluation.
- IMPORTANT NOTE: Teaching candidates should not use a cell phone, tablet, laptop, etc., during the time they are in the school unless the device is being used, with the mentor teacher's permission, to teach students. These devices should be turned off and put away during student teaching.

- The candidate should remember that she is building her professional reputation. The university supervisor and the people the candidate works with at the school are likely the ones asked to be references for the candidate when she applies for her first teaching position!
- It is always a good idea to write a thank you note to the mentor teacher at the end of student teaching. The teacher has given her time and shared her expertise during student teaching on top of her normal duties and a thank you note lets her know that this has been appreciated. It also leaves a very good impression!

#### **Policies and Procedures**

#### Absences

Attendance and punctuality are important parts of professional behavior and will be considered in the student teaching evaluation.

In the case of illness or emergency, the student teacher should call the mentor teacher as early as possible, preferably the night before, certainly no later than 7:00 a.m. She should notify the university supervisor that day by email unless a visit has been scheduled. If the university supervisor is visiting that day and the candidate will not be at school or if school has been canceled for inclement weather, the student teacher must call early enough to reach the university supervisor before he or she leaves home.

No absences other than illness or emergency are allowed during student teaching. If the student teacher is ill, she will be expected to provide a doctor's excuse to the mentor teacher and university supervisor. Absences will result in extending student teaching. Questions regarding this regulation should be addressed to the university supervisor.

All missed time during student teaching must be made up.

If the student teacher is absent, she must provide lesson plans to the person who will teach her class/es for each and every day she is responsible for the planning and teaching.

#### Appearance

The student teacher is expected to dress in a professional manner irrespective of the type of dress allowed in the school. For women, this would mean dresses, skirts and blouses, suits, slacks and blouses/sweaters. For men, appropriate attire is considered to be slacks, shirt, and possibly a tie. Sport shirts are acceptable if they are collared. Jeans and t-shirts are unacceptable. The candidate's appearance should reflect good personal grooming and hygiene. Note: If the school has special dress up days (e.g., "jeans day," "dress as favorite book character day," "Braves Spirit Day," etc.) you are encouraged to dress appropriate to the event, still in a professional manner.

#### **Corporal Punishment**

A Brenau student teacher does not participate in or act as an official witness to any act(s) of corporal punishment.

#### **Arrival and Departure Times**

The student teacher reports at the time all teachers in the school report each morning. She remains at the school until the time teachers are permitted to leave in the afternoon. If the cooperating teacher reports unusually early or stays unusually late, it is the student teacher should talk with her university supervisor to determine how she is to operate. The student teacher takes on the teacher's duties and follows the cooperating teacher's schedule. The student teacher is expected to attend all meetings, conferences, professional development, PTA meetings, spaghetti suppers, Science Nights, etc., as well as Saturday fall festivals, etc., during student teaching. If the candidate has questions about this, she should contact the university supervisor for advice.

#### Commitment

Student teaching is a full-time activity and candidates should not plan to work or spend time in campus or outside activities that require much of their time. If the student teacher has special circumstances, she should talk with her university supervisor. It may be that this is not the best semester for the candidate to complete student teaching; it may be necessary to delay student teaching until a later semester.

#### **Course Schedule**

Student teachers may not take any other courses during the semester they are enrolled in student teaching.

#### Confidentiality

The candidate should remember that all knowledge about learners is **confidential** and should only be shared within professional guidelines. If in doubt about whether to comment on learners, student teachers must not say anything until they have checked with one of the supervisors or an administrator. It is okay to say, "I will have to check" or "I do not know."

#### **Ethical Behavior**

Student teachers should exhibit ethical behavior at all times. This includes refraining from discussing with anyone other than the two supervisors any negative reactions they might have. Should they have professional concerns, they should discuss these **confidentially** with the university supervisor.

#### All student teacher communications with parents regarding their child must be made under the direct supervision, and knowledge, of the mentor teacher.

#### Holidays, Teacher Work Days and Parent/Teacher Meetings

Once candidates begin student teaching, they follow the calendar of the school system, not the Brenau University calendar.

#### **Liability Insurance**

Candidates must submit proof of current professional liability insurance during the time they are engaged in the student teaching experience through a professional organization or private insurance firm.

#### Money

Brenau student teachers do not collect or handle money during student teaching.

#### **Reimbursement for Women's College Residents**

The candidate is responsible for expenses incurred during the semester. Transportation, special teaching materials, and lunch are all the responsibility of the candidate. Residential Women's College students who purchased a meal plan may request a reimbursement for meal expenses by completing the MEAL REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST Form (available on the Clinical Experiences website), securing the signature of the Director for Clinical Experiences, and returning it to the Business Office no later than the first week of the student teaching semester.

## \* Student Teaching Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation

To ensure the success of the student teacher and the supervision program itself, a series of assessments will be implemented.

#### • Formative Assessments

Student teachers will be assessed throughout the program to ensure progress and success. Student teachers will complete assignments in the Student Teaching Project in LiveText throughout student teaching which shall be reviewed continuously by the university supervisor. In addition, the university supervisor will complete formal assessments of the student teacher's ability to prepare a comprehensive lesson plan and to demonstrate effective teaching strategies in the classroom. The mentor teacher provides input by observing the student teacher throughout the semester and submitting assessment documents. All of this will culminate in an overall evaluation and recommendation (or plans for improvement) to the College of Education.

#### • Teacher Keys Effectiveness System (TKES)/Intern Keys

Student teachers are assessed throughout student teaching using an instrument based on the Teacher Keys Effectiveness System (TKES), called Intern Keys. Teacher Keys is the instrument used by public schools in Georgia for classroom teachers. The university supervisor uses the TKES Summative Rubric to evaluate the student teacher at the end of student teaching.

The university supervisor and mentor teacher also complete the Placement Dispositions Rubric (PDR) during the semester. Professional behavior is considered in the student teacher's grade, including attendance and meeting deadlines or due dates.

The student teaching grade is not a cumulative grade in the same way as other course grades. A student teacher could begin the internship experience with very weak skills and end up with strong skills and more than adequate performance.

#### • Criteria for Grades

The following criteria have been established by the Teacher Education program at Brenau for issuing grades in student teaching.

**P** The candidate has met all of the objectives at a satisfactory to exemplary level. The candidate has developed and used a variety of teacher-made games, materials, technology, and activities as well as creatively used available commercial materials. A high level of enthusiasm, energy, and dedication to the teaching profession is in evidence.

 $\mathbf{F}$  The candidate has shown some interest in teaching, but is unable to perform at a minimally acceptable level and does not appear to be making satisfactory progress toward acceptable performance or the candidate has shown no interest in teaching and failed to perform at a minimally acceptable level and/or has been terminated from their student teaching position.

I The candidate has shown interest and progress in teaching, but has failed to meet the minimally acceptable level of performance by the end of the semester, or the candidate has had circumstances beyond his/her control which interfere with the completion of the experience.

#### • Evaluation of the University Supervisor and Mentor Teacher

In an effort to assist the university and the university supervisors, student teachers are requested to complete an evaluation of their university supervisor and mentor teacher. A form for the University Supervisor Evaluation and the Mentor Teacher Evaluation is found in Student Teaching Documents on the Clinical Experiences website.

## \* Student Teaching Team

Teacher candidates have several leaders who guide and evaluate them during student teaching.

#### **Mentor Teacher**

A mentor teacher is the classroom teacher who has agreed to share his/her learners, expertise, and time in order for the student teacher to have as nearly a realistic teaching situation as possible. This teacher has completed at least three years of successful teaching and may have specific training as a Teacher Support Specialist. The mentor teacher has been recommended by the school principal because of demonstrated skills in teaching, supervisory knowledge and a desire to be a part of the teacher preparation process.

#### **University Supervisor**

The university supervisor is the Brenau University faculty member who visits the teacher

candidate for observation and consultation regarding student teaching experiences and assists the mentor teacher. The university supervisor has had public school teaching experience and has a clear understanding of the goals and objectives of the Brenau University Teacher Education program. The university supervisor evaluates the teacher candidate at the end of student teaching.

#### Academic Advisor

The academic advisor is the faculty member who has worked with the teacher candidate in preparation for the student teaching experience. The advisor guides the candidate in the completion of all coursework, field experiences and other program requirements. The advisor verifies that all requirements have been met and that the candidate is eligible to student teach. For information on the preparation of the student teacher, inquiries should be directed to the candidate's advisor.

## **Internship Guide**

## **\*** What is an Internship?

In certain instances, an internship may be completed in lieu of student teaching. In an internship, the teacher candidate must already have a bachelor's degree, not necessarily in education and have been hired by a regionally accredited school in a grade level/subject that matches his/her major and certification she is seeking. The employing school works with the candidate to secure a IN4T non-renewable certificate and assigns a mentor teacher who holds a professional level, renewable Georgia teaching certificate and has completed at least three years of teaching. Brenau assigns a university supervisor who works with the candidate. The candidate completes assignments, much like those in student teaching, in her own classroom in an internship that lasts for two consecutive semesters.

#### Eligibility

To be eligible for an internship, the teacher candidate must:

- 1. Hold a baccalaureate degree with sufficient preparation in the content area and/or grade level of the job.
- 2. Meet Brenau's grade point average requirements.
- 3. Complete all courses and all field experiences before the second semester of the internship begins.
- 4. Be employed by a school district or a private school which holds regional accreditation or in a Georgia lottery-funded PreK.
- 5. Submit an application to complete an internship.
- 6. Secure a IN4T Georgia teaching certificate.
- 7. Teaching assignment must be in the appropriate grade level for certification (pre-K through grade 5 for Early Childhood, grades 4 through 8 for Middle Grades, and 6 through 12 for Secondary, or any grade preK-12 for P-12 certification areas).

The teaching candidate must complete all assignments as directed by the university supervisor during the two consecutive semesters of the internship. The candidate must also complete either ED415 Applied Instruction (undergraduate), or ED700 Clinical Practice Seminar (MAT) during the second semester of the internship.

There is a provision that would allow a teacher candidate to begin her internship while she is completing her final field experience. The candidate should very carefully consider the following information regarding this provision. There are both pros and cons to this option.

• On the plus side:

It's possible to begin the two-semester internship earlier than before. This means the candidate would graduate a semester earlier than it was previously possible with an internship.

#### • On the negative side:

**THIS IS LOTS OF WORK!!!** The candidate will be working full-time at her teaching job, taking courses at Brenau, completing all field experience requirements, AND completing all requirements of the first half of an internship at the same time. He/She will be responsible for all of the requirements and assignments of each one. <u>The internship will be in his/her own classroom; but the field experience will NOT be in his/her classroom.</u>

Note of caution: It will be extremely important that the candidate keeps up with ALL the due dates and deadlines for both her field experience assignments and her internship assignments. The PDR includes a heavy emphasis on meeting due dates and deadlines.

The alternative is to complete the final field experience and all courses as usual, and then begin the two-semester internship.

The candidate should think very carefully before committing to this option. He/she should give it serious consideration before he/she makes a decision and should consider how much time and energy he/she has to devote to the requirements and assignments for an additional placement in first semester when he/she is completing both a field experience and the beginning of her internship. This is not meant to discourage him/her; but to emphasize that this is a considerable amount of additional work. If she is not able to meet ALL the requirements for the first semester, she will not be able to continue into the second semester of the internship.

## \* Applying for an Internship

- As soon as the candidate has been hired by a school, they should go to the Clinical Experiences website. *Click on Am I ready for an Internship*? The candidate should answer the questions there to see if they qualify for an internship.
- If the candidte meets the requirements listed there, they should email the Clinical Experiences Office (kdavis@brenau.edu) to request an Internship Application.
- The candidate then contacts his/her advisor to let him/her know he/she is applying for an internship and ask that the advisor complete the eligibility rubric in the LiveText assignment.
- The internship will begin at the start of the first fall or spring semester after the internship application is approved.

## \* Registering for an Internship

The candidate must submit all application requirements before she is cleared to register. An internship lasts two consecutive semesters and the candidate will register for for section A in the

first semester and for section B in the second semester. The candidate will receive a grade for each semester.

**•** ·

Internship Courses			
<b>Course Number</b>	Course Title		
ED450 A,B	Internship in Teaching: ECE (second baccalaureate)		
ED789 A,B	Internship in Teaching: ECE (MAT)		
ED460 A,B	Internship in Teaching: MG (second baccalaureate)		
ED799 A,B	Internship in Teaching: MG (MAT)		
ED790 A,B	Internship in Teaching: Secondary (MAT)		
SE495 A,B	Internship in Teaching: Special Ed. (second baccalaureate)		
ED740 A,B	Internship in Teaching: Special Ed. (MAT)		
	Internship in Teaching: Fine Arts (MAT)		

Either ED415 Applied Instruction (undergrad) or ED700 Clinical Practice Seminar (MAT) is also taken during the second semester of an internship. This course supports candidates as they complete the requirements for an internship, including guidance as the candidate completes the edTPA.

## \* Preparing for an Internship

- Communication about the internship will come to the candidate through his/her Brenau email. It is very important to check the Brenau email **daily** when the candidate has submitted an internship application. Sometimes there is more information needed, questions that need to be answered, or changes that need to be made. He/she should continue to check his/her Brenau email daily for any communication through the end of the internship.
- Once the internship has been approved, the candidate will be notified through his/her Brenau email. When he/she receives the name and email address for her university supervisor, the candidate should email him/her and introduce himself/herself.
- The candidate should go to the Clinical Experiences website and become familiar with the internship documents available there. He/she will need to share these with his/her in-school mentor and administrator.

## \* Completing an Internship

The internship will begin at the start of the first fall or spring semester after the internship application is approved and will conclude at the end of Brenau's Spring Semester.

## \* Internship Assignments

The candidate will complete assignments in his/her LiveText Internship Project, similar to what he/she did in his/her Field Experience Projects in LiveText.

#### Observations

The candidate will have informal observations by his/her mentor teacher and formal observations by her mentor teacher and her university supervisor throughout her internship.

#### **Placement Dispositions Rubric**

The Placement Dispositions Rubric (PDR) is an assessment of the intern's attitude and commitment toward the student teaching experience and to the teaching profession. The PDR will be completed by the intern, the in-school mentor and the university supervisor during the internship experience. The mentor teacher should share the form with the intern and discuss it during a conference. The university supervisor will share the completed form with the intern through LiveText and discuss it as well. The intern will submit the mentor teacher's form through the LiveText assignment.

#### **Lesson Plans**

The intern will prepare lesson plans within the guidelines of the employing school and these will be monitored and approved by the school administrator when and where appropriate. The mentor teacher and university supervisor may ask to see these lesson plans at any time.

For lessons observed by the university supervisor, the lesson plan should be on the Brenau Lesson Plan format in LiveText.

## ✤ Internship Assessment, Grading, and Evaluation

To ensure the success of interns and the supervision program itself, a series of assessments will be implemented.

#### **Formative Assessments**

Interns will be assessed throughout the program to ensure progress and success. Interns will complete an Internship Project in LiveText throughout the internship which shall be evaluated by the university supervisor. This will culminate in an overall evaluation and recommendation (or plans for improvement) to the College of Education.

#### Intern KEYS

Interns are assessed throughout the internship using an instrument based on the Teacher Keys Effectiveness System (TKES)—Intern Keys. The university supervisor uses the TKES Summative Rubric to evaluate the intern at the end of the internship.

The internship grade is not a cumulative grade in the same way as other course grades. An intern could begin the internship experience with very weak skills and end up with strong skills and more than adequate performance.

#### **Criteria for Grades**

The following criteria have been established by the Teacher Education program at Brenau for issuing grades in an internship.

- **P** The candidate has met all of the objectives at a satisfactory to exemplary level. The candidate has developed and used a variety of teacher-made games, materials, technology and activities as well as creatively used available commercial materials. A high level of enthusiasm, energy, and dedication to the teaching profession is in evidence.
- **F** The candidate has shown some interest in teaching, but is unable to perform at a minimally acceptable level and does not appear to be making satisfactory progress toward acceptable performance or he candidate has shown no interest in teaching and failed to perform at a minimally acceptable level and/or has been terminated from their teaching position.
- I The candidate has shown interest and progress in teaching, but has failed to meet the minimally acceptable level of performance by the end of the semester, or the candidate has had circumstances beyond his/her control which interfere with the completion of the experience.

#### **Termination from the Internship Program**

- Interns who are dismissed from their teaching position will be terminated from the internship experience in which they are enrolled. Should the termination be based on a reduction in force for lack of student enrollment, the intern will be permitted to apply for a student teaching placement. There will be no refund of tuition.
- If the intern is dismissed from employment for reasons of immorality, insubordination, incompetence, unprofessional behavior or any violation of the *Code of Ethics* of the teaching profession for the State of Georgia the student will not be granted student teacher placement.

The candidate should remember that he/she is regarded as an intern by Brenau University, but regarded as a hired teacher by the school.

#### **Evaluation of the University Supervisor and Mentor Teacher**

In an effort to assist the university and the university supervisors, interns are requested to complete an evaluation of their university supervisor and mentor teacher. A form for the University Supervisor Evaluation and the Mentor Teacher is found in the Internship Documents on the Clinical Experiences website and provided in LiveText.

## \* Internship Support Team

The Intern Support Team (IST) shall consist of the intern, the mentor teacher, the university supervisor, and a school administrator. The IST will have the following responsibilities:

- Meet during the internship to discuss expectations and requirements.
- Evaluate progress of the intern and areas that need to be addressed.
- Help determine if the intern has completed the requirements for the internship satisfactorily.

#### **Roles and Responsibilities**

#### Intern

In order to ensure that the internship is a successful, productive experience, the intern is expected to:

- Fully inform the administration about the nature of the internship and the requirements the intern is expected to fulfill.
- Create a classroom climate that focuses on student achievement.
- Fulfill employer-assigned responsibilities as well as Brenau University requirements in a prompt and timely fashion.
- Dress appropriately for classroom teaching according to building policies and maintain a neatly groomed appearance at all times.
- Follow the regulations, policies and procedures of the school and comply with the *Code of Ethics* of the teaching profession for the State of Georgia.

Interns must exhibit ethical behavior at all times. This includes refraining from discussing with anyone other than your two mentors any negative reactions you might have. Should you have professional concerns, you should discuss these confidentially with your mentors. The Georgia Code of Ethics for Educators is the standard for ethical and professional behavior on the part of teachers. Any breach of ethics must be self-reported to the building administrator immediately. Any failure to do so may result in the reporting of any incidents by either of the supervisors.

- Use the established procedures of the school district to address problems or concerns.
- Hold in strict confidence, in accordance with FERPA and the Georgia Code of Ethics for Educators, any information concerning the students, staff, and general school matters.

Interns should remember that all knowledge about learners is confidential and should only be shared within professional guidelines. If in doubt about whether to comment on learners, interns must not say anything until they have checked with one of the mentors or an administrator. It is okay to say, "I will have to check" or "I do not know."

• Demonstrate a positive attitude for teaching and working with others, including students, faculty and other school personnel, supervisors, and parents.

- Participate in professional development activities, and apply the learned concepts in the classroom.
- Avoid partisan opinions in the classroom and remain as objective as possible when dealing with controversial issues.
- Keep an open mind and be receptive to constructive criticism from those in a position to
  offer helpful suggestions and advice. The internship is a learning experience, and
  accepting and utilizing evaluative feedback are essential components of professional
  growth.
- Schedule observations for the mentor teacher and university supervisor.

In beginning the internship year, some helpful suggestions are:

- Learn the rules and policies of the school and become familiar with school routines and other procedures related to safety regulations; fire and security drills; hall, bus and/or playground duty, and lunchroom schedules.
- Develop a classroom management plan and establish classroom routines for handling matters such as recording attendance, distributing materials, and collecting student work.
- Learn where supplies and equipment are located and how to obtain what is needed for classroom use.
- Become familiar with the textbooks and teacher's manuals; determine how they are organized and how they should be utilized in lesson planning and delivery.
- Make seating charts and learn the names of students.
- Discuss special students and their needs and abilities with the special education teachers and the students' parents and seek their help in planning for the special learners in the class.
- Gather and compile data on all students in the classroom by reviewing students' records and conferring with others, such as the counselor, parents, and other teachers, in order to become familiar with students' capabilities, learning styles, and pace of learning.

#### **Mentor Teacher**

The intern will be supervised by a mentor teacher in her school. An mentor teacher, who holds a professional level, renewable Georgia teaching certificate in the same area as the certification the candidate is seeking, and has completed at least three years of teaching, will be assigned to fulfill the following responsibilities in supporting the professional

development of the intern. The mentor teacher is expected to meet weekly with the intern. It is expected that the Mentor Teacher will do the following.

- Provide intern information related to procedures, guidelines, and expectations of the school district.
- Collect, disseminate and locate material or other resources to support the intern.
- Give the intern information about teaching strategies or the instructional process.
- Offer the intern support by being available to listen and share experiences.
- Give the intern guidance and ideas related to discipline and student management.
- Offer the intern information about organizing and planning the school day.
- Help the intern arrange, organize and/or analyze the physical setting of the classroom.
- Give the intern opportunities to observe you and others teaching.
- Observe the intern teaching.
- Critique and provide feedback to the intern on teaching performance using Intern KEYS.
- Give the intern support and assistance on conferencing with parents and relations with the community.
- Mentor teachers must also observe confidentiality with regard to information about the teaching performance of the intern. As trusted mentors, information about the intern's ability must be kept in confidence. The exception here would be a legal or ethical violation on the part of the intern that was not reported by the intern (see Professional and Ethical Behavior section below). It should be noted that it is the administration's responsibility to observe and evaluate the intern's teaching performance for employment purposes. It is the responsibility of the supervisors to provide supportive supervision to the intern to improve their teaching performance. School administrators should not expect mentors to provide evaluations for employment purposes.

#### **University Supervisor**

The intern will be supervised by a university supervisor from Brenau University College of Education. It is expected that the University Supervisor will do the following.

- Conference with the intern a minimum of six times: in the initial Intern Support Team meeting, following each observation, and in the final Professional Growth Plan meeting during the last week of the internship..
- Meet with the Intern Support Team at the beginning of the internship.
- Observe the intern teach a lesson at least five times.

- Conduct post-observation conferences to facilitate the intern in gaining a perspective on teaching through dialogue and joint reflection.
- Make a final report to the University regarding the intern's status for completing the requirements for a teaching certificate..

#### School Administrator

In an effort to support the Intern during the internship year, the School Administrator will:

- Provide the intern information related to procedures, guidelines, and expectations of the school district.
- Collect, disseminate and locate material or other resources to support the intern.
- Give the intern information about expectations on teaching strategies or the instructional process.
- Offer the intern support by assigning an mentor teacher who holds a professional level, renewable Georgia teaching certificate in the same area that the intern is seeking and has completed at least three years of teaching, is not in her/his first year at this school, preferably has the Teacher Support Specialist (TSS) endorsement and has the characteristics to be a supportive mentor.
- Provide the intern guidance and ideas related to discipline and student management.
- Provide release time for the intern to observe others teaching.
- Provide release time for the mentor teacher to observe the intern teaching and to conference with the intern about her performance.
- Provide the intern an orientation on TKES.
- Support the intern on conferencing with parents and relations with the community.
- It should be noted that it is the administration's responsibility to observe and evaluate the intern's teaching performance for employment purposes. It is the responsibility of the supervisors to provide supportive supervision to the intern to improve their teaching performance. School administrators should not expect mentors to provide evaluations for employment purposes.

## **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework of the College of Education of Brenau University is based on the vision that "education professionals from Brenau University will take active roles in planning, implementing and evaluating effective teaching practices through reflective decisions relating to content, pedagogy, and the learner". It is the belief of the faculty that candidates must have a strong grounding in the content knowledge necessary to guide learners and must also possess the skills needed to respond to the needs of learners; this grounding is supported by the liberal arts mission of the institution. This premise, based in part on Shulman's (1987) work regarding the importance of the knowledge base, framed the initial conceptual model of the College of Education and remains an important component of the conceptual framework.

The theme of reflection, based on Schon's writing (1987) is a natural fit with the unit's focus on a constructivist approach to learning. A guiding principle of the unit is that only through the successful use of reflection can the candidate provide appropriate learning experiences that are responsive to the needs of the learners (Ornstein, 1995). The unit's use of the reflective practice mirrors that described by Van Manen (1977) in that it is viewed as a developmental process for the candidate, with the assumption that beginning teachers are likely to focus on the effective delivery of instruction in the classroom. The preservice teacher is more likely to practice reflection-on-action or reflection-in-action (Schon, 1987) while the practicing teacher should be developmentally ready to engage in reflection-for-action. The teacher education faculty believes that the use of a program portfolio facilitates the development of the reflection process for candidates in the teaching programs and provides needed feedback for the novice candidate (Borko, Michalec, Timmons, & Siddle, 1997).

An understanding of and perspective for the learner is an important element of the conceptual framework and reinforces the institutional mission regarding community responsibility and global understanding. Decisions about the learning process must take place in the context of knowledge of the learner. Reflection provides the vehicle needed for the candidate to better understand what he or she knows (Loughran, 2002). Part of this reflective process involves facilitating the candidate's capacity to accept, change or to balance one's own ideas and goals with that of the learner's and with the broader concepts of education (Jewett, 1998). It is important that this process not become one of rationalization about the events or problems that are the object of reflection (Loughran, 2002) if the shift to reflection-for-action is to be successful for the novice teacher.

The unit outcomes include a requirement for the teacher to become an intelligent consumer of research. The faculty is committed to the need for examination of events in the context of the prior knowledge and experience of the learner, which incorporates the use of constructivism and reflection, while encouraging the preservice candidate to expand the analysis to include current research and practice.

## **Field and Clinical Experiences Alignment**

Observation	Field Experience	Student Teaching/Internship
Promote respect for and understanding of students' diversity, including – but not limited to – race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or disability. <i>TAPS 7.5, InTASC 2,</i> <i>CAEP 1.4</i> Provide evidence of an	Demonstrate understanding of, and respect for, the diverse cultures of schools, systems, and communities. <i>InTASC 2, TAPS 7.5</i>	Promote respect for and understanding of students' diversity, including – but not limited to – race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or disability. <i>TAPS 7.5, InTASC 2,</i> <i>CAEP 1.4</i>
understanding of professional ethics and the consequences of unethical behaviors. <i>InTASC 9</i>	Demonstrate a strong theoretical background. <i>InTASC 7, TAPS 1.4,</i> <i>1.5, CAEP 1.2</i>	Accurately reflect on teaching and plan adjustments based on level of lesson success. <i>InTASC 9</i>
Use precise language, correct vocabulary and grammar, and appropriate forms of oral and written communication. <i>TAPS 10.4</i>	Promote respect for and understanding of students' diversity, including – but not limited to – race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or disability. <i>TAPS 7.5, InTASC 2,</i> <i>CAEP1.4</i>	Provide evidence of their ability to impact student learning. <i>InTASC</i> 6
Adhere to school and district policies regarding communication of student information. <i>TAPS 10.6</i>	Accurately reflect on teaching and plan adjustments based on level of lesson success. <i>InTASC 9</i>	Demonstrate interviewing and job acquisition skills.
	Impact their own performance evaluations as they move through their career. InTASC 9	Impact their own performance evaluations as they move through their career. InTASC 9
	Provide evidence of an understanding of professional ethics and the consequences of unethical behaviors. <i>InTASC 9</i>	Provide evidence of an understanding of professional ethics and the consequences of unethical behaviors. <i>InTASC 9</i>
	Demonstrate entry level understanding of content and pedagogical knowledge of the areas in which they will be certified to teach. <i>InTASC 4, 7, 8, CAEP 1.3</i>	Demonstrate an understanding or the Teacher Keys Effectiveness System (TKES).
	Analyze student needs and strategies to differentiate instruction to meet those needs and justify instructional plans. <i>InTASC 7, CAEP 1.4</i>	Demonstrate entry level understanding of content and pedagogical knowledge of the areas in which they will be certified to teach. <i>InTASC 4, 7, 8, CAEP 1.3,</i> <i>CAEP 1.4</i>
	Create lesson plans that build on each other to develop students' understanding of essential strategies for comprehending text and the skills that support the strategies. <i>InTASC 7, CAEP 1.3, CAEP 1.4</i>	Analyze student needs and strategies to differentiate instruction to meet those needs and justify instructional plans. <i>InTASC 7, CAEP 1.4, CAEP</i> 4.1

Elicit stadaut managements	Create langer plane that build an
Elicit student responses to promote	Create lesson plans that build on
critical thinking and to develop	each other to develop students'
academic and positive social	understanding of essential strategies
interaction skills.	for comprehending text and the
InTASC, ed	skills that support the strategies.
 	InTASC 7, CAEP 1.3
	Identify and support language
	demands associated with learning
	tasks.
	InTASC 8
	Demonstrate understanding that
	student engagement is essential to
	effective instruction and show
	understanding of how to choose
	instructional strategies designed to
	• meet the needs of students,
	• motivate learners, and
	• impact student learning.
	InTASC 5,6
	Demonstrate a thorough
	understanding of effective
	instructional strategies. InTASC 8
	Scaffold students in strategy use.
	TAPS 3.2, 4.1
	Demonstrate an understanding of
	• the various forms of
	assessment,
	• which to use, and
	• when and how to use the
	data to further develop
	student learning.
	InTASC 6, CAEP4.1
	Analyze students' language use, in
	order to develop content
	understanding and to plan next steps
	in instruction. InTASC 6
	Analyze evidence of student
	learning and provide explicit,
	relevant feedback to focus students.
	InTASC 6, CAEP 4.1
	Share data with students and parents
	in a meaningful way that supports
	increased student learning.
	TAPS 6.5, CAEP 4.1
	Respect and maintain
	confidentiality. TAPS 10.6
	Establish an engaging, stimulating,
	enriching, and mutually respectful
	(low risk) learning environment.
	Key features will include
	Key reatures will include

	<ul> <li>physical arrangement of the classroom,</li> <li>discipline and routines,</li> <li>organization of the learning activities,</li> <li>engagement of students, maximizing instructional time,</li> <li>communicating high expectations,</li> <li>demonstrating care and respect of the students.</li> </ul>
Model caring, fairness, respect, and enthusiasm for learning. <i>TAPS 7.3</i>	Elicit student responses to promote critical thinking and to develop academic and positive social interaction skills. <i>InTASC 3</i>
Convey the message that mistakes should be embraced as a valuable part of learning. <i>TAPS 8.2</i>	Develop routines and procedures that function smoothly and maximize instructional time. <i>TAPS 7.2, 7.8, 8.1</i>
Adapt their performance based on feedback received through their evaluations. <i>TAPS 9.4, 9.5</i>	Model caring, fairness, respect, and enthusiasm for learning. <i>TAPS 7.3</i>
Use verbal and non-verbal communication techniques to foster rapport and positive interactions, and to promote professional collaborations and student learning. <i>TAPS 10.1</i>	Convey the message that mistakes should be embraced as a valuable part of learning. <i>TAPS 8.2</i>
Demonstrate evidence of role awareness as a professional and as a leader in the school and community. <i>InTASC 10</i>	Demonstrate the value of continuous growth through professional development and becoming a member of a professional organization to provide continued growth support. The beginning individual growth plan will be data- based: edTPA, GACE, student teaching evaluations, etc. <i>InTASC 9</i>
Use precise language, correct vocabulary and grammar, and appropriate forms of oral and written communication. <i>TAPS 10.4</i>	Adapt their performance based on feedback received through their evaluations. <i>TAPS 9.4, 9.5</i>
Adhere to school and district policies regarding communication of student information. <i>TAPS 10.6</i>	Use verbal and non-verbal communication techniques to foster rapport and positive interactions, and

	to promote professional collaborations and student learning. <i>TAPS 10.1</i>
Use modes of communication that are appropriate for a given situation. <i>TAPS 10.9</i>	Demonstrate evidence of role awareness as a professional and as a leader in the school and community. <i>InTASC 10</i>
	Use precise language, correct vocabulary and grammar, and appropriate forms of oral and written communication. <i>TAPS 10.4</i>
	Adhere to school and district policies regarding communication of student information. <i>TAPS 10.6</i>
	Use modes of communication that are appropriate for a given situation. <i>TAPS 10.9</i>
	Actively seek opportunities for collaboration with teachers and communication with parents. <i>InTASC 10</i>